THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-002233

---

Korey Lamar Love,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF *CERTIORARI***

---

E. Charles Grose, Jr.  
S.C. Bar Number 66063  
The Grose Law Firm, LLC  
404 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 538-4466  
(864) 538-4405 (fax)  
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

*Attorney for Petitioner Korey Love*

##

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

### *Question I*

Did trial counsel render prejudicial, ineffective assistance of counsel by promising the jurors that Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson would testify as alibi witnesses, despite knowing these witnesses were unreliable and impeachable, and then failing to call them as witnesses, a failure pointed out by the State in closing?

### *Question II*

Did trial counsel render prejudicial, ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to call Kendel Love, Jerome Love, and Demetrius Jackson as alibi witnesses when these witnesses supported Korey Love's alibi, a failure pointed out by the State in closing?

### *Question III*

Did Korey Love receive prejudicial, ineffective assistance of trial counsel when trial counsel promised during his opening statement the defense would *prove* the alibi defense and shifted the burden to the defense?

### *Question IV*

Did Korey Love receive prejudicial, ineffective assistance of trial counsel when trial counsel failed to object to a jury instruction that shifted the burden of proof on alibi?

### *Question V*

Did Korey Love receive prejudicial, ineffective assistance of appellate counsel when appellate counsel failed to appeal a jury instruction that shifted the burden of proof on alibi?

### *Question VI*

Did Korey Love receive prejudicial, ineffective assistance of trial counsel when trial counsel failed to request a correct jury instruction that did not shift the burden of proof on alibi?

### *Question VII*

Did Korey Love receive prejudicial, ineffective assistance of trial counsel when trial counsel elicited testimony from his client that he had been incarcerated for 2 ½ years prior to trial?

*Question VIII*

Did the PCR court err by not allowing Korey Love to amend his PCR application to allege prejudicial, ineffective assistance of trial counsel for not objecting to the Solicitor's "Golden Rule" argument urging the jurors to "be instruments of justice for Isaac Bass?"

*Question IX*

Is Korey Love entitled to a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine?

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In January 2011, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Korey Love for murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a pistol by someone under eighteen years of age for the shooting death of Isaac Bass. A. 506-11. On January 27, 2007, Mr. Bass was killed after leaving work at the Wendy's restaurant on Pleasantburg Drive in Greenville, South Carolina.

From November 5-8, 2012, the State tried Love before the Honorable Edward W. Miller and a jury. Bryna S. Sey and Howard L. Steinberg represented the State. Fletcher N. Smith, Jr. represented Love. The jurors convicted on all counts. Judge Miller sentenced Love to fifty years' imprisonment for murder, twenty years' imprisonment for attempted armed robbery, and five years' imprisonment for possession of a pistol by someone under eighteen years of age. The sentences are concurrent. A. 498-504.

Love appealed his convictions and sentences to the Court of Appeals. Benjamin J. Tripp of the Appellate Defense Division represented Love and filed a brief pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). Donald J. Zelenka represented the State. The Court of Appeals dismissed Love's appeal. *State v. Love*, Unpublished Memorandum Opinion 2014-UP-177 (Filed April 23, 2014).

On April 8, 2015, Love filed his application for post-conviction relief (hereinafter “PCR”). The Honorable Daniel D. Hall convened an evidentiary hearing on February 17, 2016. Love submitted a post-hearing memorandum in support of his PCR application. A. 622-44. By written order dated March 23, 2016, Judge Hall dismissed Love’s application for post-conviction relief. A. 645-56. On April 8, 2016, Love served a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion. A. 657-71. The state filed a return to the motion. A. 673-75. By written order dated September 23, 2016, Judge Hall denied this motion. A. 676-77. Love served a notice of intent to appeal, and this petition for writ of *certiorari* follows.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

While this Court gives deference to findings of fact by the PCR judge, upholding findings with any evidence to support them, this Court “review[s] questions of law *de novo*, and will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” *See Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013).

Under *Strickland v. Washington*, Love “must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” which must be judged under “prevailing professional norms.” 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). Once the defendant asserting ineffective assistance of counsel has established counsel’s failure to comply with the prevailing professional norms, he must affirmatively prove that this deficiency has prejudiced him. Specifically:

The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

*Id.* at 694. The American Bar Association Criminal Justice Standards (hereinafter “ABA Standards”), National Legal Aid and Defender Association Performance Guidelines for Criminal Defense Representation (hereinafter “NLADA Guidelines”), and other national, state, and local publications “may be valuable measures of the prevailing professional norms of effective representation.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 367 (2010).

“If the State contends the alleged deficiency resulted from a strategic decision made at trial, counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy.” *Freiburger v. State*, 413 S.C. 243, 247, 775 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 2015). *And see Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (“Counsel must articulate a **valid** reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.” (emphasis supplied by court)).

Due process of law requires that a defendant receive effective assistance of counsel not only at trial, but also on direct appeal. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985). Effectiveness of appellate counsel is judged under the same test as other ineffectiveness claims. *Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. 259 (2000); *Strickland, supra*. Appellate counsel has no constitutional duty to raise every non-frivolous issue on appeal. *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745 (1983); *Thrift v. State*, 302 S.C. 535, 397 S.E.2d 523 (1990). Appellate Counsel, however, is ineffective for not raising a meritorious issue entitling an appellant to relief. *See, e.g., Southerland v. State*, 337 S.C. 610, 524 S.E.2d 833 (1999) (appellate counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel that required a new capital sentencing trial by failing to assert, as trial counsel had, that the defendant was entitled to a charge that life is to be understood in its “ordinary and plain meaning,” pursuant to *State v. Norris*, 285 S.C. 86, 328 S.E.2d 339 (1985)). *See also Carter v.*

*Bowersox*, 265 F.3d 705 (8th Cir. 2001) (appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to assert as error that the trial court failed to instruct the jury, as required by state law, that if it failed to make a unanimous finding that the death penalty was warranted by evidence in aggravation of punishment, it was required to return a life sentence); *Commonwealth v. Chambers*, 807 A.2d 872 (Pa. 2002) (appellate counsel ineffective for failing to assert as error the trial court's instruction that once the jurors "have unanimously found an aggravating circumstance, before they can weigh aggravating circumstances against any mitigating circumstances, they must all find the existence of at least one mitigating circumstance," which misstated the law).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 27, 2007, at 1:30 a.m., someone shot and killed Isaac Bass after he left work at Wendy's. The Wendy's did not have interior or exterior security cameras. A. 64-68, 70, 76-77, 97. Without any forensic evidence identifying a perpetrator, the prosecution relied heavily on the testimony of co-defendant, Eric Jarod Ransom, in its prosecution of Korey Love.

Ransom is Korey Love's stepbrother. (Ransom's mother married Korey Love's father, Jerome Love. A. 356-578.) Ransom claimed Love brought up robbing the Wendy's in a conversation at a basketball court where Ricky Simmons, Rashad Simmons, and Dontavius Sullivan were also present. Ricky and Rashad Simmons, sometimes referred to as "the twins," also claimed this conversation took place. A. 266-68, 310-11.

Despite initially saying, "I can't really remember like what happened," Ransom ultimately claimed Love came to his house, and the two walked to the Wendy's on

January 27, 2007. When they got to the Wendy's drive-thru, Love supposedly said he was going to rob someone. Ransom claimed Love crept up on Mr. Bass, pulled a gun, and pointed it in Mr. Bass's face. According to Ransom, Mr. Bass got away, and Love shot Mr. Bass while he was trying to get back inside Wendy's. Ransom claimed both he and Love then ran away. A. 359-67.

Ricky and Rashad Simmons claimed they were standing by the mailbox at their house when they heard a gunshot, and, shortly after, Love and Ransom showed up, appearing "anxious, upset." A. 271-72, 318-19. Ransom did not recall seeing Ricky and Rashad Simmons that night. A. 359-67.

Korey Love testified in his own defense that he was at home, where he, his brother Kendel, and father Jerome Love, lived with Demetrius Antoine<sup>1</sup> Jackson and Leslie Jackson and their young children. A. 430-39. Korey Love testified that Kendel Love, Jerome Love, Demetrius Jackson, and Leslie Jackson were all home, and with him, at the time of the incident. A. 429-39. Ms. Jackson confirmed Korey Love's alibi. A. 405-12. A records custodian confirmed that Jerome Love got off work early enough that he could have been home at the time of the incident. A. 401-05.

Trial counsel did not call Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson to testify despite making this representation to the jurors during his opening statement:

We'll prove to you that it was impossible, absolutely impossible for Korey Love to have murdered Isaac Bass on January the 27, 2007 at the hour of 1:30 a.m. in the morning. We're going to bring into this courtroom people who this (indicating) young man lived with at the time.... We will bring his dad in here Mr. Jerome Love and Mr. Jerome Love will testify that when he got off a [sic]

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Jackson's family and friends call him by his middle name, "Antoine," and he is sometimes referred to as "Antoine" in the record.

Bonefish at 12:00 that night, between the hours of 12 and 12:30 he was at home and his son was in the house at that time and we will bring in another man by the name of Demetrius Jackson who the police interviewed in this case and he told 'em that he got off at 3 a.m. this mornin' when Corey was livin' in the house with this same family in Taylors, we're gonna prove that to ya. We're also gonna prove to ya in this case that not only that they enforced strict rules but these kids had a curfew to be in at night.

A. 58, line 12 – 59, line 11. Trial counsel additionally told the jurors, “*[I]f I don't prove what I said I'm gonna prove then find him guilty.*” A. 63, lines 8-9 (emphasis added).

During closing arguments, the prosecution exploited trial counsel's failure to call Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson as alibi witnesses:

Finally, I just wanna tell you that the defense witnesses didn't help you any and here's why: The records-keeper from Bonefish Grill came and brought Jerome's work records, so Jerome got off at 11:56 or whatever it was p.m. on that Friday night, so what do you do with that? Jerome wasn't here. They promised you Jerome in their opening statement. They promised you Demetrius Jackson in their opening statement. He wasn't here.

A. 473, lines 12- 19.

For the PCR hearing, both Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson provided affidavits detailing their testimony. A. 618-21. Kendel Love testified at the evidentiary hearing and supported his brother's alibi defense. A. 540-49.

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that the defense at trial was alibi. Specifically, at the time of the murder, Love was at home with his father Jerome Love, his brother Kendel Love, Demetrius Jackson, and Leslie Jackson. Trial counsel believed Ransom is the person that shot and killed Isaac Bass. The credibility of Love's alibi and the testimony of his accusers, including Ransom, was the central issue for the jurors to resolve. A. 551-54.

Trial counsel testified about Jerome Love. His client's father, "a street-smart criminal," was "unreliable" and not available to testify. Prior to trial, Jerome Love would not come to trial counsel's office to discuss the case. Jerome Love arrived at court "five minutes" before the start of trial. Initially he came to the courtroom but left because he was afraid he would be arrested for a misdemeanor domestic violence charge, even though trial counsel had an understanding with the prosecutor that his client's father could testify without fear of arrest. Jerome Love left the courthouse that day and "refused to come back." The defense team "went to the place where Demetrius Jackson was supposedly keeping him" but couldn't find him. Trial counsel knew Jerome Love was "irresponsible" and considered it an "outrage" that he didn't have "courage enough to show up at trial for his own son." Trial counsel acknowledged he knew Jerome Love was unreliable *before he made his opening statement.* A. 546-63.

Trial counsel testified that the State might be able to impeach Jerome Love with recordings of jail calls with his son where the father talked about hating "all white people." Trial counsel acknowledged these recordings were available to him through discovery *before he made his opening statement.* A. 589-93. Assistant Solicitor Steinberg confirmed the existence of these calls, which he had disclosed to trial counsel prior to trial. A. 600-02, 604-07.

Trial counsel testified that Demetrius Jackson had a prior conviction for drug distribution that could be used for impeachment. He further believed that Mr. Jackson's criminal history could undermine Leslie Jackson's testimony. Trial counsel acknowledged he was aware of Mr. Jackson's criminal history *before he made his opening statement.* A. 583.

In the order of dismissal, the PCR judge concluded:

Trial counsel testified the Applicant told him to contact alibi witnesses and he talked to them. Trial counsel testified that he did not call Kendel Love because he was “wishy-washy” and would not have been a good witness. Trial counsel testified Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson were on standby at trial as potential alibi witnesses. Trial counsel testified Jerome Love had an outstanding arrest warrant so he had an agreement with the State and the trial judge that Love would not be arrested. Trial counsel testified he could not subpoena Jerome Love, however, because he could not locate him and Love would not come meet with in his office. Trial counsel testified Jerome Love showed up right before court but noted the state had provided recordings of calls from the jail where Jerome Love had made racist statements to the Appellant. Trial counsel testified he had Demetrius Jackson under subpoena but decided not to call him. Trial counsel noted Demetrius Jackson had a prior conviction that could be used to impeach him. Trial counsel testified he believed he could make an alibi argument through just the Applicant and Leslie Jackson.

A. 649. The PCR court found trial counsel credible and further found that trial counsel had “articulated valid reasons that he did not call Kendel Love, Jerome Love, or Demetrius Jackson as alibi witnesses.” A. 650. The PCR court found Kendel Love “was not a credible or compelling witness” and the affidavits of Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson not “to be compelling evidence.” The PCR court further found, “[E]ven if these witnesses had been called in the defense case, they would have been easily attacked with impeachable evidence by the State.” A. 650-51.

## ARGUMENTS

### *Question I*

**Did trial counsel render prejudicial, ineffective assistance of counsel by promising the jurors that Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson would testify as alibi witnesses, despite knowing these witnesses were unreliable and impeachable, and then failing to call them as witnesses, a failure pointed out by the State in closing?**

An accused's right to effective assistance of counsel is violated when counsel performs deficiently, and this deficient performance prejudices the defense. *Strickland v. Washington, supra*, 466 U.S. at 687. *See generally Dawkins v. State*, 346 S.C. 151, 551 S.E.2d 260 (2001) (finding prejudice when case hinged on credibility of complaining witness). "If the State contends the alleged deficiency resulted from a strategic decision made at trial, counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy." *Freiburger*, 413 S.C. at 247, 775 S.E.2d at 393.

In this case, the PCR court found, "[T]rial counsel articulated valid reasons that he did not call Kendel Love, Jerome Love, or Demetrius Jackson as alibi witnesses." A. 648-51. This finding is entitled great deference. *Jordan, supra*. Yet, the PCR court concluded trial counsel's promise in his opening statement to call Jerome Love and Demetrius Jackson as witnesses was a strategic decision. A. 651-52. The PCR court's order did not adequately explain why trial counsel promising to call these witnesses in opening was a valid strategic decision, despite trial counsel being aware of their unreliability and impeachability *before he made his opening statement*. *See Freiburger and Ingle, supra*. The PCR court stated that trial counsel was not deficient for promising to call these alibi witnesses because "[i]t is axiomatic that counsel's arguments to the jury do not constitute evidence." A. 652. The PCR court's order further states, "Trial counsel was merely staking out a strong position in opening argument." A. 652. As discussed

below, it is never a reasonable strategy promise jurors evidence and then not deliver. Further, any illusion of a “strong position” during opening statements was exposed by the prosecution during closing arguments, damaging the credibility of the defense in a case where credibility was the central issue for the jury to determine.

The order of dismissal is controlled by an error of law. “An opening statement serves to inform the jury of the general nature of the action and defenses involved in a case so they will be better prepared to understand the evidence presented.” *State v. Brown*, 277 S.C. 203, 204, 284 S.E.2d 777, 778 (1981) (quoting *Smith v. Berry*, 231 Ga. 39, 200 S.E.2d 95 (1973)). See also *Smalls v. State*, 415 S.C. 490, 499, 783 S.E.2d 817, 821 (Ct. App. 2016) (trial counsel ineffective for not challenging false statement made by solicitor in opening statement). “Counsel should consider the strategic advantages and disadvantages of disclosure of particular information during opening statement.” NLADA Guideline 7.3(c).<sup>2</sup> “Defense counsel’s opening statement at trial should be confined to a fair statement of the case from defense counsel’s perspective, and discussion of evidence that defense counsel reasonably believes in good faith will be available, offered, and admitted.” ABA Standards (Defense Function) 4-7.5(b). Trial counsel, therefore, was deficient for promising to call these witnesses during his opening statement when he knew they were unreliable and impeachable.

---

<sup>2</sup> South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense Performance Standards for Public Defenders and Appointed Counsel (2013) (hereinafter “SCCID Guidelines”) (found at [https://sccid.sc.gov/docs/SCCID%20%20Performance%20Standards%20\(Non-Capital\)%20for%20Public%20Defenders%20and%20Assigned%20Counsel%20as%20adopted%20by%20SCCID%206-7-2013%20with%20revised%20Preamble%208-22-2013.pdf](https://sccid.sc.gov/docs/SCCID%20%20Performance%20Standards%20(Non-Capital)%20for%20Public%20Defenders%20and%20Assigned%20Counsel%20as%20adopted%20by%20SCCID%206-7-2013%20with%20revised%20Preamble%208-22-2013.pdf) (last viewed April 25, 2017)), Guideline 7.3(c) is identical to the NLADA Guideline 7.3(c). Although adopted after *Korey Love*’s jury trial, the Commission noted in the preamble that its guidelines “are benchmarks taken from existing national standards.”

Prejudice resulted from this opening statement. By promising testimony from witnesses he then failed to call, trial counsel lost credibility with the jurors. “[L]ittle is more damaging than to fail to produce important evidence that had been promised in an opening.” *Anderson v. Butler*, 858 F.2d 16, 17 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1988).<sup>3</sup> Further, the prosecution capitalized on counsel’s failure to present these witnesses. This Court consistently finds prejudice when defense counsel’s credibility is undermined. *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 465, 670 S.E.2d 646, 652 (2008) (Ineffective assistance of counsel results when trial counsel damages “the defense case because the closing argument did not support [his client’s] account of what had happened.”) and *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 472, 560 S.E.2d 401, 403 (2002) (where defense counsel put up a witness who gave testimony contradictory to the petitioner's defense and was therefore “quite damaging” to the defense, the Court found ineffective assistance of counsel).<sup>4</sup>

---

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