STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

The Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002233

KOREY LAMAR LOVE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DESHAWN H. MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 101813

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 15 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

error if the charge actually given sufficiently covers the substance of the request.” Id. Accordingly, there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court’s ruling.

E. Petitioner did not receive ineffective assistance of appellate counsel as the jury instruction in question did not shift the burden of proof on the alibi defense.

Petitioner also alleges that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to appeal a jury instruction that shifted the burden of proof on the defense of alibi. During the trial judge’s jury charge, he gave the following portion of his instruction regarding an alibi defense: “Mere denial of presence at the scene of a crime does not constitute an alibi.”. In the trial court’s next sentence, they stated the following: “There is no burden on the defendant to prove an alibi the burden is on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was actually present at the scene of the crime, actually participated in it and was not somewhere else.” (App.p.483). Trial counsel objected to the portion of the jury instruction that noted “mere denial”. At the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that he voiced an objection out of an abundance of caution” regarding the “mere denial” language of the charge. (App.p.654). He further testified the trial judge explained the charge was proper because Petitioner “can’t just say he wasn’t there, he’s gotta specify where he was.”.(App.p.654). The PCR court found there was no error in trial counsel failing to further challenge the jury instruction because it was a proper charge on the defense of alibi. (App.p.654). Additionally, the PCR court found Petitioner could not prove he suffered any prejudice from the jury charge. (App.p.654).

Here, trial counsel made the objection but appellate counsel ultimately did not raise the issue on appeal. Petitioner is unable to prove appellate counsel was deficient for failing to raise this issue because as found by the trial court, the jury instruction the Petitioner now challenges was proper. As previously mentioned this Court has held to establish an alibi, the accused must show that he was at another specified place at the time the crime was committed, thus making it

impossible for him to have been at the scene of the crime.” State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 271 S.E.2d 319 (1980). This court statement of the law is what the trial court charged to the jury. “Appellate counsel is not required to raise every nonfrivolous issue that is presented by the record.” Thrift v. State, 302 S.C. 535, 539, 397 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1990). While raised below and therefore arguably “nonfrivolous” the issue clearly lacks merit for purposes of appeal. Furthermore, trial counsel testified that he believed the trial judge’s alibi charge was consistent and not burden shifting and only objected out of an abundance of caution. (App.p.653-654). Petitioner suffered no prejudice as his claim would not have been successful on appeal. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in alleging his appellate counsel was ineffective.

F. There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR judge’s finding Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of proof of establishing trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a correct jury instruction that did not shift the burden of proof on alibi.

Petitioner also alleges his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a correct jury instruction that did not shift the burden of proof on the alibi defense. This argument is without merit. Petitioner’s argument rests on the idea that the jury instruction given by the trial judge did not clearly and correctly set forth who the burden was on to show the alibi defense. The trial judge gave the following instruction concerning alibi defense:

Now, the defendant has raised the defense of alibi and in order to establish an alibi it must be shown that the defendant was at another specified place at the time the crime was committed and that it was therefore impossible for the defendant to have been at the scene of the crime. Mere denial of presence at the scene of a crime does not constitute an alibi. **There is no burden on the defendant to prove an alibi the burden is on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was actually present at the scene of the crime, actually participated in it and was not somewhere else.**

(App.p.483)

In this case the trial judge correctly stated what is required to show an alibi defense. More importantly, the trial judge told the jury that the burden of proof was on the State to prove the Petitioner was actually present. As previously mentioned, an alibi charge places no burden on a criminal defendant but emphasizes that it is the State's burden to prove the defendant was present and participated in the crime. State v. Bealin, 201 S.C. 490, 23 S.E.2d 746 (1943). Here, the trial judge gave correct jury instructions to the jury and was trial counsel was not deficient in requesting some other instruction as the instruction given not burden shifting. Accordingly, there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's ruling.

G. There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR judge's finding Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of proof of establishing trial counsel was ineffective for eliciting testimony from Petitioner that he had been incarcerated for two years.

Petitioner also alleges his trial counsel was ineffective for eliciting testimony from his client that he had been incarcerated for two years because it implied bad character evidence. The PCR court found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should not have elicited testimony that Petitioner had been incarcerated prior to trial. (App.p.652-653) During the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified his strategy in noting the Petitioner had been in jail for two and a half years was to show the Petitioner was the victim and had been falsely accused. (App.p.653). Furthermore, in trial counsel's opening statement, he noted Petitioner had been indicted "for approximately two and a half years." (App.p.653). During his direct examination of the Petitioner, trial counsel asked if he had been in jail for two and a half years and Petitioner said yes. (App.p.653). The PCR court found that counsel's performance was not deficient or that Petitioner was prejudiced by this strategy. (App.p.653). Additionally, the PCR court found clearly a part of trial counsel's strategy, as he reemphasized the Petitioner's lengthy imprisonment during his closing argument. The PCR court concluded especially when combined

with an alibi defense, this was a reasonable trial strategy. (App.p.653). Here, trial counsel employed a strategy in representing Petitioner he thought would be effective. In making a fair assessment of attorney performance, a court must make every effort to "eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. There is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance and the "[applicant] must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy." Id. Further, on review, this Court "gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved." Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)). Moreover, the PCR court found Petitioner failed to demonstrate he suffered any prejudice as the result of trial counsel's mention of his two and a half year incarceration. (App.p.653). The PCR court noted a State witness testified she visited Petitioner in jail after he was arrested on these charges. (App. p.238).

Accordingly, there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's ruling.

H. The PCR court did not err by not allowing Petitioner to amend his PCR application.

Petitioner next alleges the PCR court erred by not allowing Petitioner to amend his PCR application to include an allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the Solicitor's "Golden Rule" argument. This argument is without merit.

Prior to testimony being taken in the PCR hearing, Petitioner attempted to amend his application by handing up an amendment that included some matters not included in the original application. (App.p.538). Included in this amendment was an allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Solicitor's "Golden Rule" argument urging the jurors to "be

instruments of justice” for the victim. (App.p.634). Respondent objected to these amendments explaining to the court the case had been scheduled for more than a month and Petitioner had filed his original application some ten months prior. (App.p.538). Respondent continued in arguing the amendment had only been presented to her twenty minutes before the actual PCR hearing was to take place. (App.p.538). The PCR judge ultimately decided to not allow the amendment considering it had just been given to Respondent and they did not have an opportunity to respond. (App.p.539).

In this case, refusing to allow the Petitioner to proceed with his amended application was well within the authority of the court. Rule 15(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure state the following:

A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before or within 30 days after a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is required and the action has not been placed upon the trial roster, he may so amend it at any time within 30 days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party. A party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within fifteen days after service of the named amended pleading, whichever period may be the longer, unless the court otherwise orders. Rule 15(a), SCRCF

Here, it is within the discretion of the judge to allow an amendment to a pleading if justice requires it and it does not prejudice the other party. In this case, the PCR judge decided not to allow Petitioner’s amendment because Respondent had only been shown them twenty minutes prior to the hearing. The PCR court concluded that Respondent did not have an opportunity to respond to these amendments.

Notwithstanding, Petitioner is unable to show prejudice as trial counsel should not have objected because the solicitor comments to the jury did not constitute the “Golden Rule”. South

Carolina's courts prohibit the use of the "Golden Rule argument," in which jurors are urged to place themselves in the position of a party, a victim, or a victim's family member and decide the case from that perspective. State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 633 S.E.2d 898 (2006) (overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009)). In this case, the solicitor told the jury to be instruments of justice for the victim. Here, the solicitor never told the jury to place themselves in the position of the victim. The solicitor simply asked the jury to decide the case and find the Petitioner guilty. Accordingly, the Petitioner can not show he was prejudiced by trial counsel failure to object as there was no violation of the "Golden Rule".

I. Petitioner is not entitled to a new trial as South Carolina has not established a cumulative error doctrine for PCRs.

Petitioner also alleges he is entitled to a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine. This argument is without merit.

In Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 196-97, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324-25 (2002), this Court expressly declined to address whether a PCR applicant is entitled to relief based upon the supposed cumulative effect of trial counsel's alleged errors. See Simpson v. State, 367 S.C. 587, 604, 627 S.E.2d 701, 710 (2006) (recognizing that "[w]hether several errors, which are independently found not to be prejudicial, may cumulatively warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina" and holding that "[b]ecause the PCR court found that only one of Simpson's allegations had merit, there was no need to conduct a cumulative-error analysis").

A number of other jurisdictions, including the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, have held a cumulative effect analysis is inappropriate and that the correct analysis focuses upon each individual allegation of ineffective assistance. See Fisher v. Angelone, 163 F.3d 835, 852-53 (4th Cir. 1998); Wainwright v. Lockhart, 80 F.3d 1226 (8th Cir. 1996); Jones v. Sotts, 59 F.3d

143, 147 (10th Cir. 1995). As the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals explained in Fisher v. Angelone:

Fisher argues that the cumulative effect of his trial counsel's individual actions deprived him of a fair trial. We disagree. Having just determined that none of counsel's actions could be considered constitutional error, see Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 369 n. 2 (1993) (“[U]nder Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 674 (1984), an error of constitutional magnitude occurs in the Sixth Amendment context only if the defendant demonstrates (1) deficient performance and (2) prejudice, it would be odd, to say the least, to conclude that those same actions, when considered collectively, deprived Fisher of a fair trial. Not surprisingly, it has long been the practice of the Fourth Circuit individually to assess claims under Strickland v. Washington.” See, e.g., Hoots v. Allsbrook, 785 F.2d 1214, 1219 (4th Cir. 1986) (considering ineffective assistance claims individually rather than considering their cumulative impact). In fact, in Arnold v. Evatt, 113 F.3d 1352 (4th Cir 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1058, 118 S. Ct. 715 (1998), the Fourth Circuit recently rejected a similar request to review the alleged errors of a trial court cumulatively rather than individually. See Id. at 1364 (“Based on the findings of this court concerning the individual claims of error, we reject this claim.”).

To the extent this Court has not specifically stated that ineffective assistance of counsel claims, like claims of trial court error, must be reviewed individually, rather than collectively, we do so now. In so holding, we are in agreement with the majority of our sister circuits that have considered the issue.

Id. (footnote omitted). See Meuller v. Angelone, 181 F.3d 557, 586n.22 (4th Cir. 1999) (“Petitioner also urges us to consider the cumulative effect of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims rather than whether each claim, considered alone, establishes a constitutional violation. This argument is squarely foreclosed by our recent decision in Fisher, 163 F.3d [...at] 852-53 [...]”). Therefore, the Federal bench has correctly decided that prejudice must be considered on an individual, not a collective basis. Fisher, 163 F.3d at 852.

As a result, cumulative error analysis would be inappropriate on these facts under any interpretation of the law. Because Petitioner has failed to meet his burden to show deficiency

and prejudice in any of his allegations, he is not entitled to relief in this forum. Certiorari should therefore be denied, and the PCR Court's findings should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.